IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

CASE NO. SC03-1330

ERNEST D. SUGGS,

Appellant,

v.

STATE OF FLORIDA,

Appellee.

ON APPEAL FROM THE CIRCUIT COURT
OF THE FIRST JUDICIAL CIRCUIT,
IN AND FOR WALTON COUNTY, STATE OF FLORIDA

INITIAL BRIEF OF APPELLANT

HILLIARD E. MOLDOF Florida Bar Number 215678 1311 SE Second Avenue Fort Lauderdale, FL 33316 (954) 462-1005

COUNSEL FOR APPELLANT

PRELIMINARY STATEMENT

This appeal involves a Rule 3.850 motion on which an
evidentiary hearing was granted on some issues, and summarily
denied on others. References in the brief shall be as follows:
(R) Record on Direct appeal;
(PC-R.) Record in this instant appeal;

STATEMENT OF THE CASE AND OF THE FACTS

On August 22, 1990, Ernest Suggs was indicted by the grand jury in Walton County, Florida, and charged with first-degree murder and kidnapping of Pauline Casey, a barmaid. He also was charged with robbery and possession of a firearm by a convicted felon, with the latter charge being severed for trial purposes (R-960). Mr. Suggs originally was represented by John Mooneyham of the Public Defender's Office. After a period of time, Earl D. Loveless, assistant public defender, took primary responsibility for the case. Subsequently, Mr. Suggs retained Donald W. Stewart of Anniston, Alabama, and Robert Kimmel of Pensacola, Florida.

Before trial, a fire broke out at the courthouse in Defuniak Springs (R-4926-27). Mr. Suggs waived his right to be tried in Walton Count and the case proceeded to trial in Okaloosa County (R-4931, 4992). Because of pre-trial publicity, an impartial jury could not be selected, and the court granted Mr. Suggs' motion for change of venue, moving the case to Milton, Florida (R-5118, 5264, 5270).

Jury trial began in Santa Rosa County on May 26, 1992 (R-1894). The jury found Mr. Suggs guilty of first-degree murder, kidnapping, and robbery (R-1719). The jury sentenced Mr. Suggs to death by a vote of seven to five (R-1756). On

July 15, 1992, the trial court sentenced Mr. Suggs to death.

On direct appeal, this Court affirmed Mr. Suggs' convictions and sentence. <u>Suggs v. State</u>, 644 So.2d 64 (Fla. 1994). The United States Supreme Court denied certiorari on April 24, 1995. <u>Suggs v. Florida</u>, 115 S. Ct. 1794 (1995).

Because Mr. Suggs' conviction and sentences became final after January 1, 1994, he was required to file his post-conviction motion within one (1) year, pursuant to newly-enacted Rule 3.851, Fla. R. Crim. P. This Court granted Mr. Suggs an extension of time in which to file his Rule 3.850 motion.

In March, 1998, an Amended Motion to Vacate was filed, raising 15 claims. A hearing pursuant to Huff v. State, 622
So. 2d 982 (Fla. 1993) was held on October 22, 1999. On March 13, 2000, Circuit Court Judge Laura Melvin granted an evidentiary hearing in part and denied in part Mr. Suggs' claims. The trial court dismissed several claims without prejudice to file amended pleadings and short brief summaries of facts. The State conceded an evidentiary hearing on grounds of ineffective assistance of counsel (PC-R. at 155-174).

At the time of her order, Judge Melvin notified the parties that she would retire on May 15, 2000 and the case

would be re-assigned to Judge Lewis R. Lindsay. On March 14, 2000, an order of reassignment was issued by Chief Judge John Kuder, indicating that Judge Lindsay would preside over the case.

Judge Lindsay, however, had been a State witness in Mr. Suggs' trial and testified against him. Judge Lindsay's testimony was a focal point of the trial and was an issue raised by Mr. Suggs on direct appeal. Counsel for Mr. Suggs filed a notice to the court and a motion to disqualify on March 21, 2000, indicating that Judge Lindsay should be disqualified from presiding over Mr. Suggs' case. On March 28, 2000, Judge Lindsay recused himself from Mr. Suggs' case.

On April 13, 2000, Chief Judge John Kuder assigned the Honorable Thomas Remington, Circuit Court of Okaloosa County, to preside over Mr. Suggs' case.

In June 2000, Larry Simpson, counsel for Mr. Suggs, moved to withdraw from the case because of a conflict of interest.

On June 30, 2000, the court granted Mr. Simpson's motion to withdraw. The Office of the Capital Collateral Regional

Counsel - North was appointed to represent Mr. Suggs.

In November, 2000, CCRC counsel for Mr. Suggs was replaced by Hilliard Moldof, who was retained by Mr. Suggs.

At that time, Mr. Moldof notified the trial court of the

voluminous records and the outstanding public records in the case. The trial court granted Mr. Moldof the time to obtain the public records and file an amended motion in state court.

Mr. Suggs' Second Amended Motion to Vacate was filed on September 1, 2001 (PC-R. 1-154). The State filed its response (PC-R. at 155-174). An evidentiary hearing was held on January 23-24, 2003. On June 11, 2003, the trial court denied all of Mr. Suggs' claims (PC-R. 334-347).

A timely notice of appeal was filed (PC-R. at 348). This appeal follows and is timely.

SUMMARY OF ARGUMENTS

- 1. Mr. Suggs was deprived of his rights to due process when the State failed to disclose a wealth of exculpatory evidence in its possession. Confidence in the reliability of the outcome of the proceedings is undermined by the non-disclosure. Further, the State knowingly presented false or misleading evidence to obtain a conviction and sentence. The trial court erred in its analysis and failed to consider the cumulative effect of the prejudice suffered as a result of the State's misdeeds. Mr. Suggs' convictions and sentence of death must be vacated and a new trial and sentencing order.
 - 2. Mr. Suggs was deprived of the effective assistance of

counsel at the guilt phase of his capital trial when counsel unreasonably failed to discover and object to exculpatory evidence.

3. Mr. Suggs was deprived of the effective assistance of

counsel at the penalty phase of his capital trial when counsel unreasonably failed to present evidence of compelling and substantial mitigation.

4. A confession by another to the crime constituted newly-

discovered evidence and had this evidence reached the jury, the outcome would have produced an acquittal.

- 5. Mr. Suggs was absent from critical stages of his prosecution. Failure to object was ineffective assistance of counsel.
- 6. Mr. Suggs' trial counsel suffered from a conflict of interest that violated his rights. Counsel's failure to object resulted in effective assistance of counsel.
- 7. Trial counsel was ineffective for repeatedly waiving Mr. Suggs' rights, without his consent.
- 8. Mr. Suggs' rights were repeatedly violated when his search and seizure rights were violated.
 - 9. Mr. Suggs is innocent of the death penalty.

- 10. Mr. Suggs failure to interview jurors violates his rights and his access to the courts.
 - 11. Florida's death penalty statute is unconstitutional.
- 12. Florida's death penalty is cruel and unusual punishment.
 - 13. Mr. Suggs is insane to be executed.
 - 14. The cumulative errors in Mr. Suggs' guilt and penalty

phase entitle him to a new trial and penalty phase.

ARGUMENT I

THE HEARING COURT ERRED IN DENYING MR. SUGGS'S CLAIM THAT HE WAS DEPRIVED OF HIS DUE PROCESS RIGHTS WHEN THE STATE WITHHELD EVIDENCE THAT WAS MATERIAL AND EXCULPATORY AND/OR PRESENTED FALSE OR MISLEADING EVIDENCE

A. Introduction

To insure a constitutionally adequate adversarial testing and a fair trial occurs, the prosecutor has certain obligations. Due process requires a prosecutor in a criminal prosecution to refrain from presenting false and/or misleading evidence. Strickler v. Greene, 527 U.S. 263, 281 (1999)(the State's interest "in a criminal prosecution is not that it shall win a case, but that justice shall be done"). If a State witness misrepresents a material fact, the prosecutor is obligated to correct the witness' misstatement. Giglio v. United States, 405 U.S. 150, 153 (1972), Napue v. Illinois, 360 U.S. 264 (1959). "Truth is critical in the operation of our judicial system. . " Florida Bar v. Feinberg, 760 So.2d 933 (Fla. 2000).

The prosecutor as the State's representative is obligated to learn of any favorable evidence known by individuals acting on the government's behalf and to disclose any exculpatory evidence in the State's possession to the defense. Strickler, 527 U.S. at 280. This Court has not hesitated to order new

trials in capital cases where confidence was undermined the reliability of the conviction as a result of the prosecutor's failure to comply with his obligation to disclose exculpatory evidence. Cardona v. State, 826 So. 2d (Fla. 2002); Hoffman v. State, 800 So.2d 174 (Fla. 2001); State v. Hugins, 788 So.2d 238 (Fla. 2001); Rogers v. State, 782 So.2d 373 (Fla. 2001); State v. Gunsby, 670 So.2d 920 (Fla. 1996); Gorham v. State, 597 So.2d 782 (Fla. 1992); Roman v. State, 528 So.2d 1169 (Fla. 1988).

In Mr. Suggs' case, the prosecution presented false and/or misleading evidence at his capital trial and this misleading and false evidence was used to obtain a conviction. This failure was not harmless beyond a reasonable doubt. The prosecutor failed to disclose exculpatory evidence that was known to the State. This failure undermines confidence in the reliability of the verdict convicting Mr. Suggs of first-degree murder.

B. The Presentation of False and/or Misleading Evidence1. The Legal Standard

In <u>Giglio v. United States</u>, 405 U.S. 150, 153 (1972), the United States Supreme Court recognized that the "deliberate deception of a court and jurors by the presentation of known false evidence is incompatible with "rudimentary demands of

the representative not of an ordinary party to a controversy, but of a sovereignty whose obligation to govern impartially is as compelling as its obligation to govern at all; and whose interest, therefore, in a criminal prosecution is not that it shall win a case, but that justice shall be done.

Berger v. United States, 295 U.S. 78, 88 (1935). The Court concluded that the Fourteenth Amendment "forbade the prosecution to engage in 'a deliberate deception of court and jury.'" Gray v. Netherland, 518 U.S. 152, 165 (1996), quoting Mooney v. Holohan, 294 U.S. 103, 112 (1935). If the prosecutor intentionally or knowingly presents false or misleading evidence or argument in order to obtain a conviction or sentence of death, due process is violated and the conviction and/or death sentence must be set aside unless the error is harmless beyond a reasonable doubt. Whitley, 514 U.S. 419, 433 n.7 (1995). The prosecution has a duty to alert the court, the defense, and the jury when a State's witness gives false testimony, Napue v. Illinois, 360 U.S. 264 (1959). The prosecutor must refrain from the knowing deception of either the court or the jury during a criminal trial. Mooney v. Holohan. A prosecutor is constitutionally prohibited from knowingly relying upon false impressions to obtain a conviction. Alcorta v. Texas, 355 U.S. 28 (1957).

In cases "involving knowing use of false evidence the

defendant's conviction must be set aside if the falsity could in

any reasonable likelihood have affected the jury's verdict."

United States v. Bagley, 473 U.S. 667, 678 (1985), quoting

United States v. Agurs, 427 U.S. 97, 102 (1976) (emphasis

added). If there is "any reasonable likelihood" that

uncorrected false and/or misleading argument affected the

jury's determination, a new trial is warranted. As the Court

explained in Bagley, this standard is equivalent to the

harmless beyond a reasonable doubt test. Where the

prosecution violates Giglio and knowingly presents either

false evidence or false argument in order to secure a

conviction, a reversal is required unless the error is proven

harmless beyond a reasonable doubt. Bagley, 473 U.S. at 679

n.9. See United States v. Alzate, 47 F.3d 1103, 1110 (11th

Cir. 1995).

2. At Mr. Suggs' Trial, Uncorrected False and/or Misleading Testimony

The State presented false and misleading evidence against Mr. Suggs in an effort to obtain a conviction. This false and misleading evidence was the testimony of Wallace Byars and James Taylor, two known jailhouse informants.

The trial court held that there is "no credible evidence

that either Taylor or Byars were agents for the State." (PC-R. at 338). But this view is unsupported by the record and the testimony from the evidentiary hearing.

After Mr. Suggs was arrested on August 7, 1990, he was incarcerated in the Walton County Jail and placed in an isolation cell. At the time of his first appearance, Mr. Suggs specifically invoked his right to counsel and expressed his desire to have counsel present during any interview:

"[d]efendant demands that his attorney be present during any questioning about any potential or pending criminal matter"

(R. 1). About a week later, Mr. Suggs was moved from his isolation cell to Cell 211 where inmate James Taylor was housed. A short time later, Wallace Byars, another inmate, was moved to cell 211 (R. 3406).

On August 21, 1990, Taylor and Byars made statements to law enforcement claiming that Mr. Suggs made incriminating admissions to them while housed together in cell 211 (R. 3539). The statements made by Taylor and Byars were tape recorded by law enforcement and delivered to the State Attorney's Office for transcription. Before Mr. Suggs was moved into a cell with Taylor and Byars, both men were known informants. The only reason Taylor was housed in Walton County was to testify for the state and federal governments in

another trial (R-3539, 3576). Taylor's jobs included working as an informant for the Florida Department of Law Enforcement, the Drug Enforcement Agency, U.S. Customs, and the States of Alabama and Georgia (R-3602).

Taylor was given special privileges that no other inmates were allowed to have (PC. Ev. at 44), according to inmate George Broxson, who spent time in the same cell as Taylor (PC.Ev. At 44-47). "He got what he wanted from [jailer] Crenshaw," Mr. Broxson testified (PC.Ev. at 45).

According to Mr. Broxson, inmates were not allowed to have voice-activated tape recorders, but Taylor had one and used it at the jail. (PC.Ev. at 47). Taylor was a known informant.

I know for a fact that he was an informant because he was housed - okay in cell - the way this incarceration system is set up inside Walton County Jail, cell 211, you have a three-man cell and two one-man cells that are all the way in the back of that pod. Those are locked inside of another pod there, you know. Anyway one's a three-man cell and there are two one-man cells. Taylor lived in a one-man cell.

Another inmate was in another one-man cell. Suggs, I and some other person -- I don't know who he was -- was in the three-man cell. The reason I know Taylor was doing something in there with the tape player that he wasn't supposed to be doing, telling on people, because I go over and speak to him and he reaches under the bed, pulls the tape player out because it's a voice activated tape player and rewinds the tape because I spoke and the tape player kicked on and made a recording.

(PC.Ev. at 48-49). Mr. Broxson testified that he knew Ernie Suggs "wouldn't talk to anyone," (PC.Ev. at 55).

The State also created an alias for Mr. Taylor "Robert Locksley" in an effort to keep his identity from the defense. Mr. Taylor used this alias in the jail from July 8, 1990, through October 7, 1990. Walton County Sheriff's Department knew Taylor's real name and knew that he was not "Locksley," based on Taylor's prior services provided to Walton County law enforcement. The Walton County Sheriff's Department assigned the alias to Taylor so as to conceal his identity from Mr. Suggs. Jail visitation records reveal that law enforcement was aware of Taylor's true name because Locksley's visitors were "James and Geneva Taylor" who were listed as Taylor's "Mother and Father." (PC-R. at 355-357).

As for Wallace Byars, Mr. Broxson testified that he made it "plain" that he was going to testify against Mr. Suggs so as not to go to prison (PC.Ev. at 49-50).

Mr. Broxson's story was confirmed by James Taylor who spoke with Gerald Shockley, a 25-year-old veteran FBI agent who in 1995-1996 was in private practice and worked for Mr.

 $^{^{1}}$ Byars was in jail for aggravated battery on a police officer and was facing a minimum of 15-17 years in the Department of Corrections (R-3409). After giving statements to sheriff's deputies, Byars pled to a three-year sentence to be served in the county jail (R-3409).

Suggs' post-conviction attorney. Mr. Shockley testified at the evidentiary hearing that he interviewed James Taylor at the Houston County Jail in Dothan, Alabama on January 16, 1996, and "he supported what Broxson had said." Mr. Shockley also testified that:

the information that Taylor had testified to and that Wallace Byars had testified to was perjured testimony, that they had fabricated that information stating that Ernie Suggs had admitted to them that he was responsible for the killing of Pauline Casey, when the truth of the matter is that Ernie Suggs had not told him anything like that. That they had fabricated that, that they wanted preferential treatment from the Sheriff's Office and that's the reason they made that story up. That he received enough information from the Sheriff's office to be able to give investigators a statement as to what Ernie Suggs allegedly said.

(PC.Ev. at 103).

Despite law enforcement's knowledge that Taylor and Byars were witnesses in the case and had alleged incriminating evidence against Mr. Suggs, the State Attorney filed false and misleading answers to the defense demand for discovery. On September 18, 1990, the State Attorney filed a response to Defense Demand for Discovery, where the names of Byars and Taylor were omitted, the existence of confidential informants was denied, and it was affirmatively stated that Mr. Suggs had made no statements in connection with the case. Additional discovery responses also omitted these critical disclosures.

It was not until January 17, 1991 that the State acknowledged the existence of Taylor and Byars and filed a discovery response indicating that they were witnesses. In the interim, both Taylor and Byars remained in the cell with Mr. Suggs and alleged that Mr. Suggs made additional incriminating statements (R-3586). Many of the statements that Taylor and Byars claimed were made by Mr. Suggs were subsequent to August 21, 1990. On cross examination, Taylor was asked:

- Q: In fact, hasn't your version of what [Petitioner] told you with regard to Mrs. Casey expanded since [August 21, 1990]?
- A: Yes, sir, because we have been in the same cell six or seven months after that.

(R-3586).

It was obvious that Byars and Taylor were working as agents of the state for the purpose of obtaining prejudicial information about Mr. Suggs. Both defense attorneys, Donald Stewart and Robert Kimmel, had no knowledge that Taylor and Byars were agents of the State. "We didn't know about it. Nobody told us," Mr. Stewart testified (PC.Ev. at 138-139; 218-224).

In its order, the hearing court erroneously concluded that no evidence was presented to support this claim, (PC-R. at 336). But this claim was substantiated by the unrebutted

testimony of Gerald Shockley and Mr. Broxson.

This Court must grant Mr. Suggs relief based on the State's misconduct. Relief is required if there is any "reasonable likelihood" that the State's use of this false or misleading testimony may have affected the jury's verdict.

Bagley. In a case such as this, with a 7-5 jury vote for death, the error cannot be found to be harmless beyond a reasonable doubt.²

Much of the State's case depended on the jury believing Taylor and Byars. At trial, the defense tried to impeach Byars for receiving special treatment. For example, while serving a three-year sentence in the county jail, Byars was repeatedly released from the jail on his own recognizance. On one occasion, Byars stayed at the Hilton Hotel in Crestview where he got into a fight and was arrested (R-3415-18).

Byars was such an important witness at trial that the

State announced its intent to call County Judge Lewis Lindsey
to testify that Byars was released from the Walton County Jail
as a result of Judge Lindsey's instructions, not because of
preferential treatment by law enforcement or the prosecutor
(R-2120). Defense counsel cross-examined Byars on the issue

² When this error is considered cumulatively with the <u>Brady</u> error and the ineffective assistance of counsel, confidence in the jury's verdict is unquestioningly undermined.

of preferential treatment. Judge Lindsey was allowed to testify, bolstering the credibility of the witness and it left the jury with the impression that Byars was a credible witness, improperly implying Byars' statements about Mr. Suggs were true.

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