IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

ERNEST SUGGS

Appellant,

v. CASE NO. SC03-1330

STATE OF FLORIDA,

Appellee. _____/

ON APPEAL FROM THE CIRCUIT COURT
OF THE FIRST JUDICIAL CIRCUIT
IN AND FOR WALTON COUNTY, STATE OF FLORIDA

ANSWER BRIEF OF THE APPELLEE

CHARLES J. CRIST, JR. ATTORNEY GENERAL

MEREDITH CHARBULA Assistant Attorney General Florida Bar No. 0708399

DEPARTMENT OF LEGAL AFFAIRS THE CAPITOL Tallahassee, Florida (850) 414-3300, Ext. 3583 (850) 487-0997 (Fax)

COUNSEL FOR APPELLEE

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

⁴⁰ He did not challenge the denial of the motion to suppress concerning search of his vehicle. Because this claim could and should have been raised on direct appeal, this substantive claim is procedurally barred.

Sunday testified during the hearing held on Suggs' motion to suppress that it was only after Suggs consented to a search of his home and vehicle and suspected proceeds of the robbery from the Teddy Bear Club had been found, was he notified the body was found. (TR. V 880). Additionally, in the affidavit attached to the warrant, Deputy Sunday described the suspected evidence found during the consent search, which included \$173 in small bills, numerous firearms, as well as folding and hunting knives.

This Court has ruled the particularity requirement of the Fourth Amendment must be given a reasonable interpretation consistent with the character of the property sought. For instance, when the purpose of the search is to find specific property, the warrant should particularly describe this property in order to preclude the possibility of the police seizing any other. On the other hand, it follows that when the object of the warrant is not to obtain specific items of property, but rather to obtain all property of a certain character, it is not necessary to describe a particular article of property. Green v. State, 668 So.2d 301,306 (Fla. 1996); Carlton v. State, 448 So.2d 250,252 (Fla. 1984).

 $^{^{41}}$ At the hearing on Suggs' motion to suppress, Deputy Sunday testified that before entering Suggs' home, he knew that approximately \$200 was missing from the club where Pauline Casey worked on what was to be the last day of her life. (TR. Vol. V 881).

In this case, the warrant specified the officers could search and seize evidence and contraband in connection with the murder and robbery of Pauline Casey. Thus, the warrant, on its face limited the officer's discretion in what could be seized pursuant to the warrant, precluded a general exploratory search of Suggs' vehicle and home, and safeguarded Suggs' rights against the arbitrary invasion of his home by law enforcement officers. Carlton v. State, 448 So.2d at 252 (Fla. 1984). Because the trial court could have properly found the search warrant, under the circumstances, did not violate the particularity requirement of the Fourth Amendment, counsel cannot be deemed ineffective for failing to include a challenge to the warrant in his motion to suppress all the evidence found in Suggs' home and car.

Even if this Court would determine the warrant did not satisfy the particularity requirement and counsel should have challenged its validity, Suggs can demonstrate no prejudice for counsel's failure to challenge the warrant. On direct appeal, this Court found that Suggs' initial detention was legal and that he freely and voluntarily consented to a search of his home and vehicle. (TR. V 838). Because Suggs consented to the search of his home and vehicle, the evidence admitted at trial was admissible regardless of whether the warrants were invalid. Accordingly, Suggs can show no prejudice for failing to contest

the warrants particularity because the evidence would have been admissible to a valid exception to the warrant requirement.

IX.

WHETHER SUGGS IS INNOCENT OF THE DEATH PENALTY.

Suggs alleges he is innocent of the death penalty. Suggs claims the jury instructions on aggravating circumstances were erroneous, vague, and failed to adequately channel the sentencing discretion of the jury or genuinely narrow the class of persons eligible for the death penalty. Suggs points specifically to two of the aggravating factors and alleges these aggravating factors are unconstitutional as a matter of law. Suggs claims the HAC aggravating factor was held unconstitutional by Espinosa v. Florida, 505 U.S. 10798, and the CCP aggravator was found unconstitutional by this court in Jackson v. State, 648 So.2d 85 (Fla. 1994). Finally, Suggs claims his death sentence was disproportionate.

In order to prevail on an "innocent of the death penalty" claim, a defendant must demonstrate constitutional error that invalidates <u>all</u> of the aggravating circumstances upon which the sentence was based. <u>Griffin v. State</u>, 866 So.2d 1, 18 (Fla. 2004); <u>Vining v. State</u>, 827 So.2d 201 (Fla. 2003). Other than

Presumably, Suggs does not actually contend the HAC and CCP aggravators are unconstitutional. Rather, the gravamen of Suggs' claim is that the <u>jury instructions</u> for the HAC and CCP aggravators have been declared unconstitutional.

the HAC and CCP instructions, Suggs makes no specific complaint about the other five aggravators upon which the jury was instructed. Suggs points to no case law from this Court, or any other court for that matter, that supports the notion the instructions for the prior violent felony aggravator, under a sentence of imprisonment aggravator, murder in the course of a felony aggravator, avoid or prevent lawful arrest aggravator, or pecuniary gain aggravator, are constitutionally infirm either facially or as applied in this case. While Suggs claims the HAC aggravator was declared unconstitutional by the United States Supreme Court in Espinosa v. Florida, this Court in Suggs' direct appeal came to the opposite conclusion. In Suggs v. State, 640 So.2d 64 (Fla. 1994), this Court noted that "the instruction given is not the invalid instruction at issue in Espinosa." Suggs at 70. Further, this Court ruled the trial judge properly found the murder was heinous, atrocious or cruel.

Additionally, though Suggs is correct in his assertion the CCP instruction given in his case was apparently one invalidated by this Court some two years after Suggs' trial in <u>Jackson v. State</u>, 648 So.2d 85 (Fla. 1994), Suggs cannot show he is innocent of the death penalty because he has failed to show constitutional error invalidating any of the aggravators found in this case, save one. Even so, this court found on direct appeal the evidence was sufficient to support the trial judge's conclusion

the murder was CCP. <u>Suggs</u> at 70. As Suggs has not shown constitutional error that would invalidate all of the seven aggravating circumstances found to exist in this case, Suggs has failed to show he is innocent of the death penalty.

Finally, Suggs' claim that his death sentence is not proportional is without merit and is procedurally barred. This issue has already been decided adversely against Suggs. Though this Court did not specifically discuss the proportionality of Suggs' death sentence on direct appeal, a proportionality review is inherent in this Court's review of every capital case. This Court has noted that, simply because it does not mention its proportionality review in its written opinion, does not mean such review is not done. Ferguson v. Singletary, 632 So.2d 53, 58 (Fla. 1994). On direct appeal, this Court unanimously affirmed Suggs' convictions and sentence to death. As such, this Court has already determined Suggs death sentence was proportionate.

X. WHETHER SUGGS' INABILITY TO INTERVIEW JURORS DENIED HIM DUE PROCESS OF LAW

Suggs argues the Florida Rule of Professional Conduct limiting his right to interview his jurors is unconstitutional because it denies him due process, violates his rights under the First, Fifth, Sixth, Eighth and Fourteenth Amendments to the

United States Constitution, and denies him access to the courts. Suggs argues he should be entitled to interview jurors to discover if overt acts of misconduct impinging upon the defendant's constitutional rights took place in the jury room. 43 Suggs claims he should be allowed to discover how the medical examiner's testimony, during which two jurors got physically ill, impacted the jury's verdict.

Initially, this claim is procedurally barred because Suggs failed to raise this issue on direct appeal. A claim attacking the constitutionality the Florida Bar Rule of Professional Conduct governing interviews of jurors can and should be raised on direct appeal. Because Suggs failed to do so, this claim is procedurally barred. Allen v. State, 854 So.2d 1255, 1258 n.4 (Fla. 2003); Marquad v. State, 850 So.2d 417, 423 n.2 (Fla. 2003) (deciding that a post-conviction challenge to the rule prohibiting counsel from interviewing the jurors unconstitutional is procedurally barred because it should have been raised on direct appeal); Rose v. State, 774 So. 2d 629, 637 n.7 (Fla. 2000)(holding that the claim attacking the constitutionality of the Florida Bar Rule of Professional Conduct governing interviews of jurors is procedurally barred because Rose could have raised this issue on direct appeal); Young v.

 $^{^{43}\,}$ Suggs makes no showing or claim he filed a motion to interview jurors in the trial court that was improperly denied.

State, 739 So. 2d 553, 555 n.5 (Fla. 1999) (concluding that postconviction claim regarding the constitutionality of rule which limits an attorney's right to interview jurors after the conclusion of trial was procedurally barred because not raised on direct appeal).

Suggs claim also fails on the merits. Suggs' argument is premised on the notion that Rule 4-3.5(d)(4) of the Rules Regulating the Florida Bar prevents collateral counsel from interviewing jurors. This is not the case.

The rule actually prohibits a lawyer from initiating communication with any juror regarding a trial with which the lawyer is connected, except to determine whether the verdict may be subject to legal challenge. The rule also provides that a lawyer "may not interview the jurors for this purpose unless the lawyer has reason to believe that grounds for such challenge may exist."R. Regulating Fla. Bar 4-3.5(d)(4).

The rule's foundation rests on strong public policy against allowing litigants to harass jurors or to upset a verdict by attempting to ascertain some improper motive underlying it.

Marshall v. State, 854 So.2d 1235 (Fla. 2003). Suggs proffers no basis to believe that grounds for a legal challenge to his convictions and sentence to death will be illuminated by an interview of his jurors. Rather that pointing to specific evidence of juror misconduct or prejudicial outside influence,

Suggs presents only a bare bones claim challenging the rule on constitutional grounds. 44 Significantly, Suggs never filed a motion with the trial court requesting he be allowed to interview jurors. At its core, Suggs complaint is that the rule impermissibly forbids him from conducting a fishing expedition in hopes of landing a keeper. Suggs claim should be denied.

XI.

WHETHER FLORIDA'S DEATH PENALTY STATUTE IS UNCONSTITUTIONAL UNDER THE EIGHTH AMENDMENT TO THE UNITED STATES CONSTITUTION.

Insofar as Suggs makes a claim that Florida's death penalty statute constitutes cruel and unusual punishment, this same argument was raised in Suggs' twelfth claim and is discussed in detail below. Suggs claims that Florida's capital sentencing statute is arbitrary and capricious because it fails to limit the

⁴⁴ Jury inquiry may be permitted in the face of allegations which involve an overt prejudicial act or external influence (e.g. cases in which a juror related personal knowledge of nonrecord facts to other jurors, an assertion a juror received information outside the courtroom, or where jurors allegedly read newspapers contrary to the court's orders. On the other hand, matters which inhere in the verdict or seek to invade the jury's deliberative process may not be the subject of juror interviews. For instance inquiry into whether jurors misunderstood certain jury instructions, whether a attempted to discuss guilt prematurely, jurors' consideration of a defendant's failure to testify, or discussion of matters the trial judge instructed the jury to disregard are not permitted as these are matters which inheres in the verdict or relates to Reeves v. State, 826 So.2d 932 (Fla. deliberation. Devoney v. State, 717 So.2d 501 (Fla. 1998). The effect of the medical examiner's testimony on the minds, or stomachs, of the jury would clearly be a matter that inheres in the jury's verdict.

class of persons eligible for the death penalty and violates due process is without merit.

In <u>Lugo v. State</u>, 845 So.2d 74, 119 (Fla. 2003), this Court rejected Lugo's claim that Florida's death penalty statute is unconstitutionally arbitrary and capricious. See also Shere v. State, 579 So.2d 86, 94 (Fla. 1991); <u>Hodges v. State</u>, 28 Fla. L. Weekly S475 (Fla. June 19, 2003)(refusing to reconsider long established law rejecting arguments that Florida's death penalty statute is unconstitutional because it fails to prevent the arbitrary and capricious imposition of the death penalty, violates due process, and constitutes cruel and unusual punishment).

XII.

WHETHER FLORIDA'S DEATH PENALTY CONSTITUTES CRUEL AND UNUSUAL PUNISHMENT.

This claim is procedurally barred. Constitutional challenges to Florida's death penalty scheme can and should be raised on direct appeal. Gorby v. State, 819 So.2d 664, 687 (Fla. 2002) (Gorby's challenge to the constitutionality of Florida's death penalty statute procedurally barred because it could have been raised on direct appeal); Arbelaez v. State, 775 So.2d 909, 919 (Fla. 2000) (challenges to the constitutionality of Florida's death penalty scheme should be raised on direct appeal); Woods v. State, 531 So.2d 79,82 (Fla. 1988)(ruling Wood's claim that executing an adult with diminished mental

capacity is cruel and unusual punishment could have been and should have been raised, if at all, on direct appeal); <u>Doyle v. State</u>, 526 So.2d 909, 911 (Fla. 1988)(claims that execution under Florida's capital sentencing scheme constitutes cruel and unusual would have been barred, if raised in Doyle's 3.850 motion, because it could have been raised on direct appeal). Because Suggs failed to raise this issue on direct appeal, he is barred from litigating this issue on collateral attack.

Additionally, this claim is without merit. This Court has consistently rejected claims identical to the one Suggs presents In <u>Cole v. State</u>, 841 So.2d 409 (Fla. 2003), this Court rejected Cole's claim that execution by lethal injection and electrocution constitutes cruel or unusual punishment. See also Power v. State, 2004 LEXIS 662 (Fla. May 6, 2004) (denying Power's claim that Florida's capital sentencing scheme unconstitutionally permits cruel and unusual punishment); Griffin v. State, 866 So.2d 1, (Fla. 2004)(noting that this Court has repeatedly rejected claims that death by electrocution or lethal injection is unconstitutional); (King v. State, 808 So.2d 1237 (Fla. 2003) (rejecting as meritless King's claim that execution by lethal injection or Florida's procedures implementing lethal injection constitute cruel punishment, unusual punishment, or both); Francis v. State, 808 So.2d 110 (Fla. 2003) (noting that Francis' claim that execution by electrocution is unconstitutional has

already been decided adversely to him); Thompson v. State, 796 So.2d 511 (Fla. 2001) (statute authorizing death by lethal injection does not offend notions of separation of powers; its retroactive application does not violate state or federal ex post facto clauses, and death by lethal injection does not constitute cruel and unusual punishment); Provenzano v. State, 761 So.2d 1097, 1099 (Fla. 2000) (ruling that execution by lethal injection does not constitute cruel or unusual punishment); Sims v. State, 754 So.2d 657 (Fla. 2000)(ruling that death by lethal injection is neither cruel nor unusual); Provenzano v. Moore, 744 So. 2d 413, 416 (Fla. 1999) (execution by electrocution in Florida's electric chair does not constitute cruel or unusual punishment).

XIII.

WHETHER SUGGS IS INSANE TO BE EXECUTED.

This claim is not ripe for review as no death warrant has been signed and Suggs' execution is not pending. Florida Rule of Criminal Procedure 3.811(a) provides that "[a] person under sentence of death shall not be executed while insane to be executed." Section 922.07(1), Florida Statutes (2002), provides that the Governor shall stay the execution when he is informed a person under a death sentence may be insane. Whether an inmate is presently insane so as to prohibit execution is not ripe for review until a death warrant has been signed and execution is

imminent. <u>Griffin v. State</u>, 866 So.2d 1 (Fla. 2004). See also <u>Provenzano v. State</u>, 751 So. 2d 37, 41 (Fla. 1999) (Harding, C.J., concurring) (stating that history of incompetence has no relevance regarding whether defendant "is incompetent to be executed at the present time"). Because this issue is not ripe for review, it is not appropriately before this Court.

XIV.

WHETHER THE TRIAL COURT ERRED IN FAILING TO CONDUCT A CUMULATIVE ERROR ANALYSIS.

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